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U.S. EPA REGION 4
HEARING CLERK

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

Region 4
In the Matter of:
LSB Chemical L.L.C., Docket No. CAA-04-2024-0305(b)
Respondent.
CONSENT AGREEMENT

I. NATURE OF ACTION

1. This is an administrative penalty assessment proceeding brought under Section 113(d) of the
Clean Air Act (“CAA” or the “Act™), 42 U.S.C. § 7413(d), and Sections 22.13(b) and 22.18 of
the Consolidated Rules of Practice Governing the Administrative Assessment of Civil Penalties
and the Revocation/Termination or Suspension of Permits (Consolidated Rules), as codified at
Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.), Part 22.

2. This Consent Agreement and the attached Final Order shall collectively be referred to as the
CAFO.

3. Having found that settlement is consistent with the provisions and objectives of the Act and
applicable regulations, the Parties have agreed to settle this action pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.18
and consent to the entry of this CAFO without Respondent’s admission of violation or any
adjudication of any issues of law or fact herein.

II. PARTIES

4. Complainant is the Director of the Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division, United
States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Region 4, who has been delegated the authority
on behalf of the Administrator of the EPA to enter into this CAFO pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 22
and Section 113(d) of the Act.

5. Respondent is LSB Chemical L.L.C., a corporation doing business in the State of Alabama.
This proceeding pertains to Respondent’s facility located at 1080 Industrial Drive, Cherokee,
Alabama 35616 (Facility).
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III. GOVERNING LAW

6. Any person who violates Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r), or rule promulgated
thereunder, may be assessed a civil penalty pursuant to Section 113(d) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §
7413(d), and 40 C.F.R. Part 19. Each day a violation continues may constitute a separate
violation. Civil penalties under Section 113(d) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(d), may be assessed
by an administrative order.

7. Section 112(r) of the Act 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r), addresses the prevention of release of substances
listed pursuant to Section 112(r)(3) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(3), and other extremely
hazardous substances. The purpose of this section is to prevent the accidental release of
extremely hazardous substances and to minimize the consequences of such releases. Pursuant to
Section 112(r)(7) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7), the EPA is authorized to promuigate
regulations for accidental release prevention.

8. Pursuant to Sections 112(r)(3) and 112(r)(7) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7412(r)(3) and 7412(r)(7),
the EPA promulgated rules codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 68, Chemical Accident Prevention
Provisions. These regulations are collectively referred to as the “Risk Management Program”
(RMProgram) and apply to an owner or operator of a stationary source that has a threshold
quantity of a regulated substance in a process. Pursuant to Sections 112(r)(3) and 112(r)(5) of the
Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7412(r)(3) and 7412(r)(5), the list of regulated substances and threshold levels
are codified at 40 C.F.R. § 68.130.

9. Pursuant to Section 112(r)(7)(B)(iii) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(B)(iii), and 40 C.F.R. §§
68.10 and 68.150, the owner or operator of a stationary source that has a regulated substance in
an amount equal to or in excess of the applicable RMProgram threshold in a “process” as defined
in 40 CF.R. § 68.3, must develop an RMProgram accidental release prevention program, and
submit and register a single Risk Management Plan (RMPlan) to the EPA.

10. The EPA and the United States Department of Justice jointly determined that this matter,
although it involves alleged violations that occurred more than one year before the initiation of

this proceeding, is appropriate for an administrative penalty assessment. 42 U.S.C. § 7413(d); 40
CFR.§194.

IV.  FINDINGS OF FACTS

11. Respondent is the owner and/or operator of the Facility, which is a “stationary source” as that
term is defined by Section 112(r)(2)(C) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(1)(2)(C).

12. Respondent has registered an RMPlan with the EPA for its Facility and has developed an
RMProgram accidental release prevention program for the Facility.

13. On May 3, 2023, the EPA issued to Respondent a Notice of Potential Violation and Opportunity
to Confer (“NOPVOC”), providing notice that the EPA found that Respondent potentially
committed the alleged violations described in Section V of this Agreement and providing
Respondent an opportunity to confer with the EPA. On September 19, 2023, and January 17,
2024, representatives of Respondent and the EPA held meetings to discuss the NOPVOC.
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14. At its Facility:

a. Respondent operates a chemical manufacturing facility.

b. Respondent has on-site for use, 25,299,678 pounds of anhydrous ammonia and
355,094 pounds of ammonia (concentration 20% or greater).

c. Respondent has two RMProgram level 3 covered processes, that store or

otherwise use anhydrous ammonia and ammonia (concentration 20% or greater)
in amounts exceeding their applicable thresholds of 10,000 pounds and 20,000
pounds, respectively.

15. On August 30 through September 1, 2022, the EPA conducted an on-site inspection of the
RMProgram related records and equipment for the purpose of assessing the Respondent’s
compliance with the RMProgram requirements and the implemented recognized and generally
accepted good engineering practices (RAGAGEP) for its covered process at its Facility.

16. At the time of the inspection, EPA observed the following:

a. The equipment in the field did not match the piping & instrument diagrams
(P&IDs).

i.  C-Grade storage: P&ID no. 32PD008 identified a 6-inch line from
C-Grade storage tank 2123-F with a single 6-inch valve on the
piping immediately leaving the tank to transfer pump 2120-JA.
During the site walkthrough, an additional 6-inch valve and a
sample line were observed that were not shown on the P&ID.

ii.  Urea plant: P&ID no. 42PD002 identified a ¥-inch line from
1201A-F Suction Pulsation Dampener to G1202-A Main Pump
inlet with a single %-inch hand valve (P&ID asset number
NE11593). During the site walkthrough, two additional hand-
valves were observed in series, downstream of NE11593 that were
not identified on the P&ID.

b. The anhydrous ammonia piping in the C-Grade storage area was not labeled to
indicate contents, direction of flow, physical state (i.e., liquid or vapor), or
pressure level (i.e., high or low). Section 3.1 of American Society of Mechanical
Engineers (ASME) A13.1 (2015) states, “Positive identification of the contents of
a piping system shall be by lettered legend, giving the name of the contents in full
or abbreviated form ... Arrows shall be used to indicate direction of flow. Where
flow can be in both directions, arrows in both directions shall be displayed.
Contents shall be identified by a legend with sufficient additional details such as
temperature, pressure, etc., as are necessary to identify the hazard.”

c. The Facility’s process hazard analysis (PHA) did not address hazards relating to
loss of power or extreme weather events. On July 1, 2020, the Facility
experienced a power outage due to a severe thunderstorm, which resulted in a
release due to the shutdown of certain equipment. Because of the severe nature of
the thunderstorm and the location of the controls for the emergency scrubber
(which were only accessible from certain external locations during a loss of
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power), Facility personnel were delayed for approximately one hour in starting
the scrubber. Severe weather and loss of power are hazards of the process within

the meaning of the RMP regulations, see 40 C.F.R. § 68.3, that should have been
addressed in the PHA.

d. Action item #101057 from the 2014 Letdown Area PHA stated, “Consider
automating compressor monitoring on DCS.” This action item had a deadline of
July 1, 2022, and was still listed with open status at the time of the inspection.

e. The Facility did not revise its operating procedures to include required revisions
until May 8, 2020, which was more than one year after the following incidents
occurred:

i.  Anincident (2018-INC-0227) occurred on August 7, 2018, when an
employee was burned by liquid ammonia after opening, rather than
tightening, a valve on a liquid ammonia line. The employee was not
wearing a respirator, chemical jacket, or gloves that were available
nearby. The Facility identified “Incorrect or incomplete procedures” as
a root cause and identified two related corrective actions: (1) “Issue
memo stating that full chemical PPE including respirator, full chemical
suit, and chemical gloves is required during connection, disconnect, and
any activity on the railcar before the plugs have been inserted in the
load/vapor lines;” and (2) “Revise all applicable procedures to clearly
state PPE requirements and recommended tools. Remove language
from existing standard operating procedures (SOPs) that allow use of
chemical apron.”

it.  Anincident (2019-INC-0111) occurred March 11, 2019, when an
employee was exposed to aqua ammonia. The employee was not
wearing a respirator and had raised their face shield. The Facility
identified “Incorrect or incomplete procedures” as a root cause and
identified two related corrective actions: (1) “Revise SOP 325P215 to
clarify PPE requirements and to include detailed instructions on a
bleeding load hose;” and (2) “Issue a department memo stating PPE
requirements for disconnecting and bleeding ammonia trailers.”

f. The 2022 Compliance Audit identified two of the safeguards for the ammonia
PHA that were not included in the Facility’s inspection program. Specifically, the
inspection team reviewed the Facility’s inspection tracking system records and
confirmed that the following safeguards for pressure vessels and storage tanks and
controls (including monitoring devices and sensors, alarms, and interlocks) were
not included in the Facility’s inspection program:

i.  LSL-201 Low level overhead knockout drum CO2 Stripper, and
ii.  DPIC-3310 Roots Blower DP Alarm.

g. Action item #105546 from the 2019 Compliance Audit had a target completion
date of 12/31/2019 and was open at the time of the inspection. The 2022
Compliance Audit did not identify this open action item from the 2019
Compliance Audit as a finding or continued action item. The 2022 Compliance
Audit’s description of the RMP programs and practices section states, “The audit
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team reviewed the findings and recommendations from the two previous audits.
All the findings and recommendations are recorded in OE Suites. The plant
resolved and implemented action items from previous compliance audit
recommendations in a timely manner.”

. 2020-INC-0258 had three action items due in 2020 and two action items due in

2021 that were past due and open at the time of the inspection. The incident was
related to a leak of aqua ammonia and potential corrosion issues associated with
the C aqua tank.

2021-INC-0314 occurred on April 26, 2021, and the Facility indicated the incident
investigation began on April 27, 2021. However, the Root Cause Analysis for the
incident was not started until May 3, 2022, and finalized on May 12, 2022, over a
year after the incident occurred.

i. Compliance audit findings related to hot work in both the 2019 and 2022

Compliance Audits found hot work permits were missing signatures, that firewatch
assignments and continuous air monitoring were not performed, and that the issued
and expired times on the permit were identical. These repeat issues indicate fire
prevention and protection requirements in 29 C.F.R. 1910.252(a) were not being
implemented adequately.

V. ALLEGED VIOLATIONS

17. Respondent is a “person” as defined in Section 302(e) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7602(e).

18. Based on EPA’s compliance monitoring investigation, the EPA alleges that the Respondent
violated 40 C.F.R. Part 68, the codified rules governing the Act’s Chemical Accident Prevention
Provisions and Section 112(r) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r), when it:

a.

Failed to complete a compilation of written process safety information before
conducting any process hazard analysis required by 40 C.F.R. § 68.65(a). This
process safety information shall include information pertaining to the equipment
in the process, including P&ID's, as required by 40 C.F.R. § 68.65(d)(1)(ii);
Failed to document that equipment complies with RAGAGEP, as required by 40
C.F.R. § 68.65(d)2);

Failed to adequately address in the PHA, the hazards of the process, as required
by 40 C.F.R. § 68.67(c);

Failed to establish a system to promptly address the PHA team's findings and
recommendations; assure that the recommendations are resolved in a timely
manner and that the resolution is documented; document what actions are to be
taken; complete actions as soon as possible; develop a written schedule of when
these actions are to be completed; and communicate the actions to operating,
maintenance and other employees whose work assignments are in the process and
who may be affected by the recommendations or actions, as required by 40 C.F.R.
§ 68.67(¢);

Failed to timely develop and implement written operating procedures that provide
clear instructions for safely conducting activities involved in each covered process
consistent with the process safety information that included precautions necessary
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to prevent exposure, including engineering controls, administrative controls, and
personal protective equipment, and to annually certify that those procedures were
current and accurate, as required by 40 C.F.R. § 68.69;

Failed to perform inspections and tests on process equipment, as required by 40
C.F.R. § 68.73(d)(1);

Failed to adequately certify that it evaluated compliance with the provisions of 40
C.F.R. Part 68, Subpart D at least every three years to verify that procedures and
practices developed under Subpart D are adequate and are being followed, as
required by 40 C.F.R. § 68.79(a);

Failed to establish a system to promptly address and resolve the incident report
findings and recommendations, as required by 40 C.F.R. § 68.81(e); and

Failed to adequately document on hot work permits that the fire prevention and
protection requirements in 29 C.F.R. 1910.252(a) had been implemented prior to
beginning the hot work operations, as required by 40 C.F.R. § 68.85(b).

VI. STIPULATIONS

19. The issuance of this CAFO simultaneously commences and concludes this proceeding. 40 C.F.R.

§ 22.13(b).

20. For the purpose of this proceeding, as required by 40 C.F.R. § 22.18(b)(2), Respondent:

a.
b.

€.

f.

admits that EPA has jurisdiction over the subject matter alleged in this CAFO;
neither admits nor denies the factual allegations set forth in Section IV (Findings
of Facts) of this CAFO;

consents to the assessment of a civil penalty as stated below;

consents to the conditions specified in this CAFO;

waives any right to contest the allegations set forth in Section V (Alleged
Violations) of this CAFO; and

waives its rights to appeal the Final Order accompanying this CAFO.

21. For the purpose of this proceeding, Respondent:

a.

b.

agrees that this CAFO states a claim upon which relief may be granted against
Respondent;

acknowledges that this CAFO constitutes an enforcement action for purposes of
considering Respondent’s compliance history in any subsequent enforcement
actions;

waives any rights it may possess at law or in equity to challenge the authority of
EPA to bring a civil action in a United States District Court to compel compliance
with the CAFO, and to seck an additional penalty for such noncompliance, and
agrees that federal law shall govern in any such civil action;

by executing this CAFO, certifies to the best of its knowledge that Respondent is
currently in compliance with all relevant requirements of the Act and its
implementing regulations, and that all violations alleged herein, which are neither
admitted nor denied, have been corrected;

waives any right it may have pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.8 to be present during
any discussions with, or to be served with and reply to, any memorandum or
communication addressed to EPA officials where the purpose of such discussion,

Consent Agreement and Final Order, Docket No. CAA-04-2024-0305(b) Page 6 of 20



memorandum, or communication is to persuade such official to accept and issue

this CAFO;
f. agrees to comply with the terms of this CAFO; and
g. waives any rights or defenses that Respondent has or may have for this matter to

be resolved in federal court, including but not limited to any right to a jury trial,

and waives any right to challenge the lawfulness of the Final Order accompanying
the CAFO.

22. In accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 22.5, the individuals named in the certificate of service are

authorized to receive service related to this proceeding and the parties agree to receive service by
electronic means.

VII. TERMS OF PAYMENT

23. Respondent agrees to pay a civil penalty in the amount of $40,524.00 (“Assessed Penalty™)
within thirty (30) calendar days after the Effective Date of this CAFO.

24. Respondent shall pay the Assessed Penalty and any interest, fees, and other charges due using
any method, or combination of appropriate methods, as provided on the EPA website:
https://www.epa.gov/financial/makepayment. For additional instructions see:
https://www.epa.gov/financial/additional-instructions-making-payments-epa.

25. When making a payment, Respondent shall:

a. Identify every payment with Respondent’s name and the docket number of this
Agreement, Docket No. CAA-04-2024-0305(b), and

b. Concurrently with any payment or within 24 hours of any payment, Respondent shail
serve proof of such payment to the following persons:

Regional Hearing Clerk

r4 regional hearing clerk@epa.gov

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4
and

Jordan Noles

North Air Enforcement Section

Air Enforcement Branch

Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4
Noles.Jordan@epa.gov

and

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Cincinnati Finance Center

Via electronic mail to:
CINWD_AcctsReceivable@epa.gov
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“Proof of payment” means, as applicable, a copy of the check, confirmation of credit card
or debit card payment, or confirmation of wire or automated clearinghouse transfer, and
any other information required to demonstrate that payment has been made according to
EPA requirements, in the amount due, and identified with the appropriate docket number
and Respondent’s name.

26. Interest, Charges, and Penalties on Late Payments. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7413(d)(5), 31
U.S.C. §3717,31 CF.R. § 901.9, and 40 C.F.R. § 13.11, if Respondent fails to timely pay
any portion of the Assessed Penalty per this Agreement, the entire unpaid balance of the
Assessed Penalty and all accrued interest shall become immediately due and owing, and
EPA is authorized to recover the following amounts.

a. Interest. Interest begins to accrue from the Effective Date. If the Assessed Penalty
is paid in full within thirty (30) days, interest accrued is waived. If the Assessed
Penalty is not paid in full within thirty (30) days, interest will continue to accrue
until any unpaid portion of the Assessed Penalty as well as any interest, penalties,
and other charges are paid in full. Per 42 U.S.C. § 7413(d)(5), interest will be
assessed pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2), that is the IRS standard
underpayment rate, equal to the Federal short-term rate plus 3 percentage points.

b. Handling Charges. The United States’ enforcement expenses including, but not
limited to, attorneys’ fees and costs of handling collection.

c. Late Payment Penalty. A ten percent (10%) quarterly non-payment penalty.

27. Late Penalty Actions. In addition to the amounts described in the prior Paragraph, if
Respondent fails to timely pay any portion of the Assessed Penalty per this Agreement, EPA

may take additional actions. Such actions EPA may take include, but are not limited to, the
following.

a. Refer the debt to a credit reporting agency or a collection agency, per 40 CF.R.
§§ 13.13 and 13.14.

b. Collect the debt by administrative offset (i.e., the withholding of money payable by
the United States government to, or held by the United States government for, a
person to satisfy the debt the person owes the United States government), which
includes, but is not limited to, referral to the Internal Revenue Service for offset
against income tax refunds, per 40 C.F.R. Part 13, Subparts C and H.

c. Suspend or revoke Respondent’s licenses or other privileges, or suspend or
disqualify Respondent from doing business with EPA or engaging in programs
EPA sponsors or funds, per 40 C.F.R. § 13.17.

d. Request that the Attorney General bring a civil action in the appropriate district
court to enforce the Final Order and recover the full remaining balance of the
Assessed Penalty, in addition to interest and the amounts described above,
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7413(d)(5). In any such action, the validity, amount, and
appropriateness of the Assessed Penalty and Final Order shall not be subject to
review.
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28. Allocation of Payments. Pursuant to 31 C.F.R. § 901.9(f) and 40 C.F.R. § 13.11(d), a partial
payment of debt will be applied first to outstanding handling charges, second to late penalty

charges, third to accrued interest, and last to the principal that is the outstanding Assessed
Penalty amount.

29. Tax Treatment of Penalties. Penalties, interest, and other charges paid pursuant to this Agreement
shall not be deductible for purposes of federal taxes.

30. Pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 6050X and 26 C.F.R. § 1.6050X-1, EPA is required to send a completed
Form 1098-F (“Fines, Penalties, and Other Amounts”) to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS™)
annually with respect to any court order and settlement agreement (including administrative
settlements), that requires a payor to pay an aggregate amount that EPA reasonably believes will
be equal to, or in excess of, $50,000 for the payor’s violation of any law or the investigation or
inquiry into the payor’s potential violation of any law, including amounts paid for “restitution or
remediation of property™ or to come “into compliance with a law.” EPA is further required to
furnish a written statement, which provides the same information provided to the IRS, to each
payor (for example, a copy of Form 1098-F). In order to provide EPA with sufficient
information to enable it to fulfill these obligations, EPA herein requires, and Respondent herein
agrees, that:

a. Respondent shall complete a Form W-9 (“Request for Taxpayer Identification
Number and Certification”), which is available at https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-
pdf/fw9.pdf;

b. Respondent shall therein certify that its completed Form W-9 includes
Respondent’s correct Tax Identification Number (“TIN’) or that Respondent has
applied and is waiting for issuance of a TIN;

c. Respondent shall email its completed Form W-9 to EPA’s to Cincinnati Finance
Center Region 4’s contact, Jessica Henderson (Henderson.Jessica@epa.gov), on
or before the date that Respondent’s initial penalty payment is due, pursuant to
Paragraph 23 of this CAFO, and EPA recommends encrypting Form W-9 email
correspondence; and

d. In the event that Respondent has certified in its completed Form W-9 that it has
applied for a TIN and that TIN has not been issued to Respondent by the date that
its initial penalty payment is due, then Respondent, using the same email address
identified in the preceding sub-paragraph, shall further:

i.  notify EPA’s Cincinnati Finance Center of this fact, via email, by
the date that Respondent’s initial penalty payment is due; and

ii.  provide EPA’s Cincinnati Finance Center with Respondent’s TIN,
via email, within five (5) days of Respondent’s issuance and
receipt of the TIN.

Failure to comply with providing Form W-9 or TIN may subject Respondent to a penalty. See 26
U.S.C. § 6723, 26 U.S.C. § 6724(d)(3), and 26 C.F.R. § 301.6723-1.
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VIII. SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECT

31. In response to the alleged violations of CAA Section 112(r) and in settlement of this matter,
although not required by CAA Section 112(r) or any other federal, state or local law, Respondent
agrees to implement a supplemental environmental project (SEP).

32. Respondent shall complete an Emergency Planning and Preparedness SEP consisting of the
purchase and donation of emergency response equipment to the Cherokee Volunteer Fire

Department (CVFD). The SEP is more specifically described in Appendix A and incorporated
herein by reference.

33. Respondent shall spend no less than $157,736.80 on implementing the SEP. Respondent shall
include documentation of the expenditures made in connection with the SEP as part of the SEP
Completion Report. If Respondent’s implementation of the SEP as described in Appendix A
does not expend the full amount set forth in this paragraph, and if EPA determines that the
amount remaining reasonably could be applied toward the purchase of additional emergency

response equipment, Respondent will purchase the additional equipment and donate it to the
CVFD.

34. Respondent shall complete the SEP by the deadline(s) in Appendix A.

35. Identification of SEP Recipient:

a. Respondent has selected the CVFD to receive SEP donations of emergency
response equipment.
b. The EPA had no role in the selection of the SEP Recipient or specific equipment

identified in the SEP, nor shall this CAFO be construed to constitute EPA

approval or endorsement of the SEP Recipient or specific equipment identified in
this CAFO.

36. The SEP is consistent with applicable EPA policy and guidelines, specifically EPA's 2015
Update to the 1998 Supplemental Environmental Projects Policy, (March 10, 2015). The SEP
advances at least one of the objectives of the CAA Section 112(r), Prevention of Accidental
Releases, and the implementing regulations contained in 40 C.F.R. Part 68 Chemical Accident
Prevention Provisions, by helping to reduce risks to the public associated with potential chemical
accidents by better equipping the CVFD to respond to such accidents. The SEP is not
inconsistent with any provision of either CAA Section 112(r) or 40 C.F.R. Part 68. The SEP
relates to the alleged violations and is designed to reduce the adverse impact to the public health
and environment to which the alleged violations contribute, specifically by reducing risks from

potential chemical accidents by better equipping the SEP Recipient to respond to any chemical
accident.

37. Respondent certifies the truth and accuracy of each of the following:
a. That all cost information provided to the EPA in connection with the EPA’s

approval of the SEP is complete and accurate and that the Respondent in good
faith estimates that the cost to implement the SEP is $157,736.80;
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b. That Respondent will not include administrative costs, or costs of employee
oversight of the implementation of the SEP, in calculating the amount it spent to
implement the SEP;

c. That, as of the date of executing this CAFO, Respondent is not required to
perform or develop the SEP by any federal, state, or local law or regulation and is
not required to perform or develop the SEP by agreement, grant, or as injunctive
relief awarded in any other action in any forum;

d. That the SEP is not a project that Respondent was planning or intending to
construct, perform, or implement other than in settlement of the claims resolved in
this CAFO;

e. That Respondent has not received and will not have received credit for the SEP in
any other enforcement action;

f. That Respondent will not receive reimbursement for any portion of the SEP from
another person or entity;

g. That for federal income tax purposes, Respondent agrees that it will neither
capitalize into inventory or basis nor deduct any costs or expenditures incurred in
performing the SEP;

h. That Respondent is not a party to any open federal financial assistance transaction
that is funding or could fund the same activity as the SEP; and

. That Respondent has inquired of the SEP Recipient whether it is a party to an

open federal financial assistance transaction that is funding or could fund the

same activity as the SEP and has been informed by the SEP Recipient that it is not
a party to such a transaction.

38. Any public statement, oral or written, in print, film, or other media, made by Respondent or a
representative of Respondent making reference to the SEP from the date of its execution of this
CAFO shall include the following language: “This project was undertaken in connection with the
settlement of an enforcement action taken by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency for
alleged violations of the federal laws.”

39. SEP Completion Report.

a. Respondent shall submit a SEP Completion Report to EPA no later than 30 days after
donation of equipment to the SEP Recipient. The SEP Completion Report shall
contain the following information, with supporting documentation:

i. A detailed description of the SEP as implemented, including dates;

ii. A description of any operating problems encountered in implementing the
SEP and the solutions thereto;

iii.  Itemized costs;

iv.  Certification, as set forth in the next paragraph, that the SEP has been fully
implemented pursuant to the provisions of this CAFO; and

v, A description of the environmental and public health benefits resulting
from implementation of the SEP (with a quantification of the benefits and
pollutant reductions, if feasible).

b. Respondent agrees that failure to submit a SEP Completion Report that meets the
requirements of this paragraph, shall be a violation of this CAFO and Respondent
shall become liable for stipulated penalties as set forth herein.
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c. Respondent shall submit all notices and reports required by this CAFO to Jordan
Noles at noles.jordan@epa.gov.

d. In itemizing its costs in the SEP Completion Report, Respondent shall clearly identify
and provide acceptable documentation for all eligible SEP costs. Where the SEP
Completion Report includes costs not eligible for SEP credit, those costs must be
clearly identified as such. For purposes of this Paragraph, “acceptable
documentation” includes invoices, purchase orders, or other documentation that
specifically identifies and itemizes the individual costs of the goods and/or services
for which payment is being made. Canceled drafts do not constitute acceptable
documentation unless such drafts specifically identify and itemize the individual costs
of the goods and/or services for which payment is being made.

40. Respondent shall submit the following certification in the SEP Completion Report, signed by a
responsible corporate official:

I certify that I have examined and am familiar with the information in the
SEP Completion Report, including all attachments. Based on my direct
knowledge or personal inquiry of those individuals with direct knowledge
or primary responsibility for implementing the SEP, I certify that the SEP
has been fully implemented pursuant to the provisions of this CAFO and
that the information in the SEP Completion Report, including all
attachments, to the best of my knowledge and belief, is true and complete.
I am aware that there are significant penalties for knowingly submitting
false statements and information including the possibility of fines or
imprisonment.

41. After receipt of the SEP Completion Report, EPA will notify the Respondent, in writing,
regarding: (a) any deficiencies in the SEP Completion Report itself, along with a grant of an
additional thirty (30) days for Respondent to correct any deficiencies, (b) indicate that EPA
concludes that the project has been completed satisfactorily, or (¢) determine that the project has
not been completed satisfactorily and seek stipulated penalties as set forth herein.

42. Stipulated Penalties

a. Except as provided in subparagraphs (b) and (c) below, for each day the
Respondent fails to meet a SEP requirement by the deadline(s) in Appendix A, the
following stipulated penalties shall apply:

i. $500 per day for days 1-15;
ii. $1,000 per day for days 16 — 30; and
iti. $2,500 per day for 31st day and beyond.

b. If Respondent fails to submit a SEP Completion Report meeting the requirements
of Paragraph 39, Respondent shall pay a stipulated penalty in the amount of $500
for each day after the report was originally due, until a SEP Completion Report
meeting the requirements of Paragraph 39, is submitted.

C. If Respondent does not satisfactorily complete the SEP, including spending the
minimum amount on the SEP, as set forth herein, Respondent shall pay a
stipulated penalty to the United States in the amount of $173,510. “Satisfactory
completion” of the SEP is defined as Respondent spending no less than
$157,736.80 and donating equipment described in Appendix A to SEP Recipient.
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The determination of whether the SEP has been satisfactorily completed shall be
in the sole discretion of EPA.

d. Stipulated penalties in subparagraphs (a) and (b) above shall begin to accrue on
the day after performance is due and shall continue to accrue through the final day
of the completion of the activity.

43. Respondent shall pay stipulated penalties not more than fifteen (15) days after receipt of written
demand by EPA for such penalties. Method of payment shall be in accordance with the

provisions of Paragraph 24 herein. The Respondent shall send proof of payment in accordance
with Paragraph 25 herein.

44. The EPA may, in its unreviewable exercise of its discretion, reduce or waive stipulated penalties
otherwise due under this CAFO.

IX. EFFECT OF CAFO

45. In accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 22.18(c), Respondent’s full compliance with this CAFO shall
only resolve Respondent’s liability for federal civil penalties for the violations and facts
specifically alleged above.

46. Full payment of the civil penalty, as provided in Section VII (Terms of Payment) and completion
of the SEP, as provided in Section VIII (Supplemental Environmental Project), shall satisfy the
requirements of this CAFO; but, shall not in any case affect the right of EPA or the United States

to pursue appropriate injunctive or other equitable relief or criminal sanctions for any violations
of law. 40 C.F.R. § 22.18(c).

47. Any violation of this CAFO may result in a civil judicial action for civil penalties as provided in
Section 113(b) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), as well as criminal sanctions as provided in
Section 113(c) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(c). EPA may use any information submitted under
this CAFO in an administrative, civil judicial, or criminal action.

48. Nothing in this CAFO shall relieve Respondent of the duty to comply with all applicable
provisions of the Act and other federal, state, or local laws or statutes, nor shall it restrict EPA’s
authority to seek compliance with any applicable laws or regulations, nor shall it be construed to
be a ruling on, or determination of, any issue related to any federal, state, or local permit, except
as expressly provided herein.

49. Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the power of EPA to undertake any action against

Respondent or any person in response to conditions that may present an imminent and substantial
endangerment as provided under the Act.

50. The terms, conditions, and compliance requirements of this CAFO may not be modified or
amended except upon the written agreement of both Parties, and approval of the Regional
Judicial Officer, except that the Regional Judicial Officer need not approve written agreements
between the parties modifying the SEP schedule described in Appendix A. The Director of
Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division shall have the authority to extend the
deadline(s) in Appendix A for good cause.
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51. The provisions of this CAFO shall apply to and be binding upon Respondent and its successors
and assigns. Respondent shall direct its officers, directors, employees, agents, trustees, and
authorized representatives to comply with the provisions of this CAFO.

52. Any change in the legal status of the Respondent, or change in ownership, partnership, corporate
or legal status relating to the Facility, will not in any way alter Respondent’s obligations and
responsibilities under this CAFO.

53. By signing this Consent Agreement, Respondent acknowledges that this CAFO will be available
to the public and agrees that this CAFO does not contain any confidential business information
or personally identifiable information.

54. By signing this Consent Agreement, the Complainant and the undersigned representative of
Respondent each certify that he or she is fully authorized to execute and enter into the terms and
conditions of this CAFO and has the legal capacity to bind the party he or she represents to this
CAFO.

55. By signing this Consent Agreement, both Parties agree that each party’s obligations under this
CAFO constitute sufficient consideration for the other party’s obligations.

56. By signing this Consent Agreement, Respondent certifies that the information it has supplied
concerning this matter was at the time of submission, and continues to be, true, accurate, and
complete for each such submission, response, and statement. Respondent acknowledges that
there are significant penalties for submitting false or misleading information, including the

possibility of fines and imprisonment for knowing submission of such information, under 18
U.S.C. § 1001.

57. EPA also reserves the right to revoke this CAFO and settlement penalty if and to the extent that
EPA finds, after signing this CAFO, that any information provided by Respondent was
materially false or inaccurate at the time such information was provided to EPA. If such false or
inaccurate material was provided, EPA reserves the right to assess and collect any and all civil
penalties for any violation described herein. EPA shall give Respondent notice of its intent to
revoke, which shall not be effective until received by Respondent in writing.

58. It is the intent of the parties that the provisions of this CAFO are severable. If any provision or
authority of this CAFO or the application of this CAFO to any party or circumstances is held by
any judicial or administrative authority to be invalid or unenforceable, the application of such

provisions to other parties or circumstances and the remainder of the CAFO shall remain in force
and shall not be affected thereby.

59. Unless specifically stated otherwise in this CAFO, each party shall bear its own attorney’s fees,
costs, and disbursements incurred in this proceeding.
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X. EFFECTIVE DATE

60. This CAFO shall become effective after execution of the Final Order by the Regional Judicial
Officer, on the date of filing with the Hearing Clerk.

Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank

Complainant and Respondent will Each Sign on Separate Pages
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The foregoing Consent Agreement in the matter of LSB Chemical L.L.C., CAA-04-2024-0305(b), is
Hereby Stipulated, Agreed, and Approved for Entry.

FOR RESPONDENT:

. / 4 y ﬁl"(/ P | -
2 (et 22 AN 2025
Signature Date
Printed Name: RRiAN E. HoCuf
Title: GENEZ AL /WANAEEZ
Address: (OS> /MNpus TRIAL DR CHELGKEF AL 3516
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The foregoing Consent Agreement in the matter of LSB Chemical L.L.C., Docket No. CAA-04-2024-
0305(b) is Hereby Stipulated, Agreed, and Approved for Entry.

FOR COMPLAINANT:

Digitally signed by KERIEMA
KERIEMA NEWMAN

Date: 05. :59:
NEWMAN _Oit'gogozs 05.20 17:59:35

Keriema S. Newman

Director

Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4
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UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

REGION 4
In the Matter of:
LSB Chemical L.L.C., Docket No. CAA-04-2024-0305(b)
Respondent.
FINAL ORDER

The Regional Judicial Officer is authorized to ratify this Consent Agreement which memorializes a
settlement between Complainant and Respondent. 40 C.F.R. §§ 22.4(b) and 22.18(b)(3). The foregoing
Consent Agreement is, therefore, hereby approved, ratified and incorporated by reference into this Final
Order in accordance with the Consolidated Rules of Practice Governing the Administrative Assessment
of Civil Penalties and the Revocation/Termination or Suspension of Permits, 40 C.F.R. Part 22.

The Respondent is hereby ORDERED to comply with all of the terms of the foregoing Consent
Agreement effective immediately upon filing of this Consent Agreement and Final Order with the
Regional Hearing Clerk. This Final Order disposes of this matter pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §§ 22.18 and
22.31.

BEING AGREED, IT IS SO ORDERED.

Digitally signed by

ng, King, Dwana
Date: 2025.05.28

Dwa Na 14:05:50 -04'00'

Regional Judicial Officer
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that the foregoing Consent Agreement and Final Order, in the Matter of LSB Chemical L.L.C.,
Docket No. CAA-04-2024-0305(b), were filed and copies of the same were emailed to the parties as
indicated below.

Via email to all parties at the following email addresses:

To Respondent: Keith Long, Director, EHS
LSB Chemical L.L.C.
klong@]sbindustroes.com
3503 NW 63" Street, Suite 500
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73116
(316) 213-1101

Donald K. Shandy, Director

Crowe & Dunlevy Attorneys and Counselors at Law
324 N. Robinson Ave., Ste. 100

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102
don.shandy@crowedunlevy.com

(405) 234-3205

To EPA: Jordan Noles, Case Development Officer
noles.jordan@epa.gov
(404) 562-9105

Marirose Pratt, Attorney-Advisor
pratt.marirose@epa.gov
(404) 562-9023

S ha NN O N Digitally signed

by Shannon

RI C h a rd S Richardson
Date: 2025.05.28

on 14:48:56 -04'00'

Shannon L. Richardson, Regional Hearing Clerk
r4 regional hearing_clerk@epa.gov

Consent Agreement and Final Order, Docket No. CAA-04-2024-0305(b) Page 19 of 20



Appendix A

Supplemental Environmental Project for LSB Chemical L.L.C.

The Respondent will purchase and donate the following equipment to the SEP Recipient no later than
six months from the Effective Date of this CAFO:

Item and Number

Vendor or Brand

Specific Type of Item(s)

36 hoses in 2 sizes

| Emergency Equipment

Professionals, Inc.

24 x 4” by 100 ft rubber hoses
12 x 2.5” by 50 ft double jacket hoses

14 Turnout Protective Gear
Sets

North America Fire
Equipment, Inc.

14 x V-Force Bi-Swing Coat w/ Crosstech Liner
14 x V-Force Belted Pant

H-Back Suspenders

Leather front pre-drilled

Leather Boots NFPA 14~

Particulate Blocking Hood NFPA

Leather Structural Firefighting Gloves

Helmet w/ Goggles-Bourkes

10 Radio and Battery Sets

The Radio Shop, Inc.

VHF Portable 260 Ch, SW with charger, battery,
antenna and belt clip

Kenwood Replacement Battery
VHF Mobile 174 MHz, 50W, 260 Ch

1 Air Compressor for
SCBA Refilling

Emergency Equipment
Professionals, Inc.

Stallion Air Centaur 2 compressor, 6,000 psi, 10
hp, Air control panel with four bank cascade
control, four bottle cascade storage, and CO
monitor
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